Antisense DNA and RNA agents against picornaviruses

Travis Lim, Jane Yuan, Huifang Mary Zhang, Alhousseynou Sall, Zhen Liu, Yue Su, Decheng Yang¹

¹Providence Heart and Lung Institute, Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of British Columbia-St. Paul's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Picornaviruses
 - 3.1. Genome and proteome
 - 3.2. Life cycle
- 4. DNA antisense oligonucleotides
- 5. Small interfering RNA
- 6. Chemical modifications of antisense
- 7. Advantages and disadvantages of antisense
- 8. Delivery systems
 - 8.1. Liposomes
 - 8.2. Viral vectors
 - 8.3. Cell penetrating peptides
 - 8.4. Modular nano-scale pRNA vector
- 9. Antisense against specific picornaviruses
 - 9.1. Hepatitis Å
 - 9.2. Poliovirus
 - 9.3. Rhinovirus
 - 9.4. Coxsackievirus
 - 9.5. Foot-and-mouth disease virus
 - 9.6. Other picornaviruses
- 10. Conclusion
- 11. Acknowledgements
- 12. References

1. ABSTRACT

Anti-picornaviral antisense agents are part of a broader group of nucleic acid-based molecules developed for sequence-specific inhibition of translation and/or transcription of the target sequence through induced nuclease activity or physical hindrance. Three types of nucleic acid-based gene silencing molecules can be distinguished. DNA-base including antisense oligonucleotides (ASO), nucleic acid enzymes (ribozyme and DNAzyme) and double-stranded small interfering RNA (siRNA or microRNA). These antisense DNA and RNA molecules have been widely studied for gene functional studies and therapeutic purposes. In this review, we focus on drug development using ASO and siRNA strategies to inhibit picornavirus infections. The picornavirus genome organization and life cycle is described, followed by discussion of design considerations, chemical modifications and drug delivery approaches. Recent studies using antisense against picornavirus are reviewed. Finally, we compare the advantages and disadvantages of the antisense agents with those of other therapeutics, taking into consideration their limitations which need to be overcome to achieve the final goal of clinical application.

2. INTRODUCTION

Antiviral antisense drugs, for the purposes of this review, will broadly refer to any nucleic acid oligomer, chemically modified nucleic acid oligomer, or nucleic acid structural analog oligomer that has a base pair sequence complementary to any part of a viral genome or host genome such that expression of the target gene (or an element (s) regulated by the target) is inhibited by the interaction of the target and drug. In particular, the two most prominently used classes of antisense agents, single stranded DNA-based antisense oligonucleotides (ASO) and double stranded small interfering RNA, will be discussed. A third class, nucleic acid enzymes such as DNAzymes and ribozymes, will not be addressed, though in the past some have been tested for antiviral capacity against foot-andmouth disease virus (FMDV) (1). This review will summarize the use of antiviral antisense drugs designed, studied or applied against viruses from the family *Picornaviridae* in various experimental systems including cultured cells, animal models and humans.

Antisense drugs targeting picornaviruses are a sensible therapeutic strategy to pursue, since the genome of

all picornaviruses consists of a single strand of RNA, the fundamental target of antisense technology, which necessarily must be translated and replicated to propagate the virus. The other major field of antisense drug development is that of anticancer drugs, which typically downregulate oncogenes, growth genes, or inhibitors of apoptosis. However because these genes are typically mutant forms of existing wild type genes, it may be challenging to untangle which antisense candidates do or do not have side effects on normal cells. Viruses, on the other hand, are exogenous agents with foreign genome targets, meaning that the goal of antiviral antisense is to downregulate viral RNA expression to the maximal extent possible.

Most antiviral antisense compounds are being developed with the eventual hope of using them as therapeutic agents in infected individuals to attenuate or clear the infection before it can damage target organs or systems. Although a majority of studies demonstrate the protective effects of antivirals when applied before infection, numerous studies have also shown that antisense antivirals are capable of blocking or attenuating viral replication if applied after viral infection (i.e., after the virus has entered the cell). However, more study is needed to determine how soon an antisense drug must be applied after infection for it to have therapeutic activity. This is likely complicated by the variety of individual responses to both virus and drug, and may be complicated by the extent of the immune response, how rapidly the virus is able to spread in an individual, and how quickly the infection progresses.

Overall, progress in clinical trials of antipicornaviral antisense has been very limited. Due to the long and stringent process of testing drugs, many tests are still being conducted with first and second generation DNA ASOs (reviewed in (2)). However, a vast majority of preclinical work within the past five years has focused almost exclusively on 3rd generation ASOs or siRNA, which are more consistently effective. To date, the only antisense agent to be approved and distributed as a therapeutic is Vitravene (ISIS2922) for cytomegalovirusinduced retinitis; this oligomer targets the viral IE2 gene (3). In this article, we will review the principles and progress of nucleic acid-based drug development, focusing on ASOs and siRNAs, for the treatment of picornaviral infections.

3. PICORNAVIRUSES

Viruses in the family *Picornaviridae* infect humans and other mammals, and cause a variety of diseases that in some cases can lead to disability or death. Within *Picornaviridae*, nine genera have been established including Rhinovirus, Enterovirus, Cardiovirus, Hepatitis virus, Aphthovirus, Parechovirus, Erbovirus, Kobuvirus and Teschovirus. The first five genera have been widely studied. The most common human viral infections are caused by rhinoviruses which infect the upper respiratory tract and cause the common cold; enteroviruses, which typically are transmitted through the fecal-oral route and enter via the intestinal mucosa, are the second most common of all human viral infections and consist of several highly similar viruses such as coxsackieviruses, poliovirus, echoviruses, and human enteroviruses. Although most picornaviral infections result in mild transient symptoms such as fever, complications can arise making this group a dangerous subset of viruses. Poliovirus is perhaps the most infamous picornavirus, due to its ability to infect the motor neurons and irreversibly paralyze its host. Both coxsackievirus and echovirus commonly cause aseptic meningitis and myocarditis leading to sudden cardiac failure in children. Hepatitits A (HAV) virus mainly infects the liver and causes human hepatitis. Foot-andmouth disease virus of the genus Aphthovirus can rapidly spread through livestock populations and has resulted in mass cullings in recent years. Cardiovirus contains two species: encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV) and Theilovirus, which are closely related to aphthoviruses. The remaining four genera have been less studied.

Picornaviruses are non-enveloped, positive sense single-stranded RNA (+ssRNA) viruses. They are icosahedral and approximately 30 nm in size. They share some similarities in gene organization and genome replication mechanisms as other non-enveloped or enveloped +ssRNA viruses such as flaviviruses (e.g. West Nile Virus and hepatitis C), coronaviruses (SARS-CoV) and caliciviruses (e.g., Norwalk Virus). Antisense-based strategies against picornaviruses may be useful against other viruses with a +ssRNA genome, many of which translational undergo similar regulation and posttranslational processing. Antisense drug development, using both DNA and RNA-based therapeutics, is currently very active against hepatitis C virus (4) and SARS-CoV (5, 6). The progress made against these viruses has provided some insight into antisense agents against picornavirus.

3.1. Genome and Proteome

The content and organization of the picornavirus genome and proteome are highly conserved between various genera and share many common elements and mechanisms to promote viral replication and viral infection. The entire genome can be directly translated as a single open reading frame into a large polypeptide precursor. This RNA ranges from 7-8 kilobase pairs in size, approximately 10-12% of which are 5' and 3' non-coding or untranslated regions (UTRs). It is clear that the 5'UTR harbors an internal ribosomal entry site (IRES), which regulates the 7mGpppG cap-independent ribosomal internal initiation of translation of picornaviruses (7, 8) and is necessary for viral replication. The 3'UTR contains kissing-pair structures, which facilitate the transcription and translation of viral RNA through interactions with cellular protein factors (9). Thus, these regions are rational targets for antisense drug design.

The immature polyprotein comprises the viral proteome which contains all the structural and nonstructural proteins in a relatively conserved order in picornaviruses. The polyprotein is self-cleaved by a *cis*acting autoproteolytic mechanism at several regions into precursors P1, P2 and P3. In enterovirus, for example, the



Figure 1. Summary of enterovirus life cycle. Infection begins with virus attachment to its receptor (s), followed by uncoating and release of its RNA genome in the cytoplasm where it is translated by host machinery through a cap-independent mechanism. The resulting polyprotein is processed through cleavage in *cis*, releasing discrete structural (gray) and nonstructural (pink, blue) proteins. The genome is replicated in membrane vesicles by RNA-dependent RNA polymerase 3D, creating a negative strand intermediate template, which is then used for positive strand replication through the same mechanism. The positive RNA genome is packaged into the assembled capsid to form provirion and released upon maturation by cell lysis.

three precursors are further cleaved by 2A and 3C proteases to produce individual proteins: P1 is processed into structural proteins VP4, VP2, VP3 and VP1 that make up the viral capsid (coat) (for certain picornaviruses, a polypeptide called L protein is located immediately preceding the P1 region); P2 and P3 are processed into nonstructural proteins including protease 2A, viroporin 2B, NTPase 2C, 3A, RNA replication primer 3B (uridylated VPg peptide (10)), protease 3C, and RNA polymerase 3D (11, 12) In addition, the polyprotein is processed into intermediates with unique roles. For example, the 3CD peptide is a precursor containing the 3C and 3D amino acid sequences, and is believed to cleave other viral peptide precursors in their final discrete forms. Another intermediate precursor is 3AB, which binds to 3D RNA polymerase and stimulates its activity (13). Viral proteases are also responsible for cleaving a multitude of host cellular proteins, causing the shutdown of host cell cap-dependent translation and eventually, cell death and viral particle release. Thus, viral proteases play an important role in viral life cycle (see discussion below) and pathogenesis and are important targets for drug action.

3.2. Viral Life Cycle

Picornaviruses share many common replication mechanisms and have highly similar life cycles (summarized in Figure 1 and Table 1). The first step of an infection is the binding of the receptor. The binding of an enterovirus to its receptor causes a conformational change in the capsid, whereby the VP4 component is released and the VP1 component is uncovered, further facilitating membrane interaction. Many viruses such as FMDV (14) and rhinovirus type 2 (15) use clathrin-mediated endocytosis while others such as some Coxsackie B viruses

Genus	Species	Receptor	Entry	Target	Drugs
Enterovirus	Poliovirus	Poliovirus receptor (PVR) CD155 (114)	Actin & tyrosine kinase dependent endocytosis (17)	Gastrointestinal, route to primary motor neurons; lymph nodes	Vaccine
	Coxsackievirus	Coxsackie and adenovirus receptor (CAR) (115); decay accelerating factor (DAF) (116); ICAM-1	Caveolin-mediated endocytosis (16)	Gastrointestinal route to heart, pancreas, meninges	None
Rhinovirus	Rhinovirus A, B	ICAM-1 (CD54) (117), LDLR	Clathrin-dependent endocytosis	Upper respiratory epithelium	Pleconaril (118)
Hepatovirus	Hepatitis A virus (HAV)	HAVcr-1/T-cell immunoglobin mucin 1 (119)	Uncharacterized	Gastrointestinal route to Liver	Vaccine
Cardiovirus	Encephalo- myocarditis virus (EMCV)	Vascular cell adhesion molecule (120), CD106	Uncharacterized	Brain, heart, pancreas	None
Aphthovirus	Foot-and-mouth-disease virus (FMDV)	Integrins $(\alpha_v \beta \text{ family})$ (121)	Clathrin-mediated endocytosis (14)	Hoof, mouth & tongue; lymph nodes	Vaccine (122)

Table 1. Summary of common picornaviruses and their associated targets and mechanisms of entry

require caveolin and not clathrin (16), and poliovirus does not require either but is dependent on actin and tyrosine kinase activity (17). Once inside, the virus is trafficked through the early endosome pathway and uncoats. The sites of replication for picornaviruses are membranous vesicles in the cytoplasm. Because they are positive, single-stranded RNA viruses, the host cell translation machinery can immediately bind and translate the full proteome.

Picornaviruses can shut down translation of host cellular proteins in the very early stages of infection, favoring their own gene translation by host machinery. The common strategy employed by picornaviruses is the cleavage of eukaryotic cell translation initiation factor 4GI (eIF4GI) (a cap-binding protein) by viral proteases to prevent the cap-dependent translation initiation complex from forming. Since picornaviral translation depends on the IRES present in the 5'UTR of the genome but not on the cap structure, cleavage of eIF4GI does not hinder viral RNA translation. Picornaviruses can also inhibit host cell gene expression through cleavage of a number of cellular transcription initiation actors and activators (18) (19)

In addition to polypeptide translation. picornaviruses must also copy their RNA genome to fully replicate. Replication occurs inside replication complexes, which consist of viral nonstructural proteins inside membranous vesicles formed by viral protein intermediate 2BC (20). The mature 3D polymerase first uridylates the VPg leader protein using the oril cis-acting RNA element (in Polio, a cloverleaf in the coding region of 2C), which in turn serves as a primer for 3D synthesis of the picornavirus negative RNA strand, based on the positive RNA genome as a template. The genome temporarily exists as a doublestranded intermediate, which may trigger the host cell dsRNA defense response. Negative strands are then primed with urdivlated VPg and used as templates in the synthesis of positive strand genomes by 3D, which are then packaged into assembled virions consisting of structural proteins.

Mature viruses are released upon the death of the cell, which typically occurs after extensive stress from viral proteases which activate cell death cascades during the replication process. This begins as early as six hours postinfection. The viral protein 2B (21) also degrades the membrane, destabilizing ion gradients and facilitating mature virion release from dead cells whereby new cells may be infected.

4. DNA ANTISENSE OLIGONUCLEOTIDES

DNA ASOs silence gene translation by binding to their target complementary single stranded mRNA sequence and preventing its translation in one of two ways. First, a DNA ASO can hybridize to its target and recruit endogenous cellular ribonuclease H which specifically degrades the RNA strand of RNA-DNA heteroduplexes. The DNA ASO is then freed to bind another copy of that RNA target, allowing the effect to be cumulative over time. While a majority of RNAse H is found in the nucleus where it plays a role in DNA replication, the enzyme has also been found in the cytoplasm, presumably from nuclear leakage or newly synthesized RNAse H translated by cytoplasmic machinery (22, 23). Secondly, DNA-analogue ASOs or DNA ASOs with modified chemistries (see below) have DNA-RNA interaction geometries that are too atypical for RNAse H to recognize. However, they can still effectively compete for translation machinery by binding to start codons or positive regulatory elements like the viral IRES. This blockage has a 1:1 stoichiometry which is not Though ASOs predominantly cumulative over time. silence gene expression at the translation level, gene transcription is also affected in certain conditions. Most notably, non-essential exons bearing premature stop mutations can be skipped by interfering with mRNA splicing at exon-intron junctions using ASOs directed to splicing sites. This approach has perhaps been most successful in the study of muscular dystrophy, where ASOs targeting splice sites flanking exon 23 are among the most promising therapeutics for the disease and are currently being tested in humans (24).

Since the viral genome is a single-stranded RNA molecule, it is directly affected by antisense-mediated downregulation by the same mechanism as normal cellular RNAs. In cultured cells transfected with RNAse H-recruiting DNA ASOs, maximal degradation of target RNA occurred at 8 hours posttransfection, with RNA levels returning to baseline during the 48-96 hour period (25). The most effective targets of DNA ASOs and DNA-

analogue ASOs are the untranslated regulatory regions of the genome such as the 5'UTR, or the viral initiation codon AUG region (26). Since certain chemically modified ASOs and DNA-analogue ASOs cannot recruit RNAse H they are only effective as translation initiation blockers at the IRES or start codon.

Choosing a target for ASOs is typically based on knowledge about functional sites (for example, the AUG start codon is the functional location necessary for correct translation). These sites, and areas around these sites, can be predicted by various software modeling programs such as AOBase (27) (http://www.bioit.org.cn/ao/aobase) and sfold (28) http://sfold.wadsworth.org, although the efficacy of ASO candidates is best evaluated empirically. As expected, the presence of highly ordered secondary structure in many viral RNA genomes makes it difficult for complimentary ASO sequences to bind and affect gene translation (25); however it is also true that a high affinity ASO can still overcome secondary structure and achieve some knockdown effect (29). Chemical modifications (see below) that affect affinity will also affect the ability of the ASO to overcome secondary structure. DNA ASOs that mediate RNAse H-dependent degradation are very effective against the IRES or start codon in FMDV and CVB3 (30, 31).

5. SMALL INTERFERING RNA

Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) are short double-stranded RNA molecules that participate in a natural cellular posttranscriptional silencing mechanism called RNA interference (RNAi). This phenomenon was first seen in plants and later in invertebrates, and is believed to be an innate reaction to the foreign double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) structures that result from viral infection. dsRNA is formed transiently during viral genome replication and also exists in conserved RNA secondary structures such as hairpin loops. Viral RNA can be cleaved by the Dicer family of RNase III-like enzymes into viRNAs of 21-28 nts (reviewed in (32)). A multimeric complex of argonaute family nucleases called RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) incorporates the antisense strand (strand complementary to an RNA target) of the siRNA and degrades mRNA sequences to which it is complementary (33).

In mammals, dsRNA longer than 30 nts triggers broad antiviral defenses including the release of interferon and activation of the RNase L and protein kinase PKR pathways, which lead to a global inhibition of mRNA translation and apoptosis (34). No viRNAs have been identified in mammalian systems, but the RISC RNAi machinery can still be recruited through the application of exogenous pre-synthesized dsRNA 21mers siRNA containing an antisense strand complimentary to the viral genome.

Mammalian cells also recruit the RNAi pathway using another group of small RNA molecules called microRNA (miRNA). miRNAs are processed from endogenous non-coding RNA sequences (primRNA), some of which are complimentary to viral RNA sequences. Their

maturation starts in the nucleus, with cleavage by the RNase III endonuclease Drosha, into 60-70 nt stem loop intermediates with 5' phosphate and 2 nt 3' overhangs. After transportation into the cytoplasm, this pre-miRNA containing a short hairpin structure is further processed by Dicer and incorporated into the RISC to inhibit mRNA expression through mechanisms similar to siRNA (35), but while siRNAs act via target degradation, miRNAs act mainly through translation repression of target mRNA due to partial complementarity to the message (36, 37). To date, more than 500 human miRNAs have been characterized, though bioinformatic analysis predicts that there could be over 1000 (38, 39). It is estimated that as many as 30% of all protein-coding genes are regulated by miRNAs, either in a positive or a negative way (40). Thus miRNAs play an important role in human disease A number studies have indicated that development. miRNAs can be used not only as effective agents for therapy but also as targets for antisense action. Currently, a majority of studies are focused on cancer-related miRNA characterization (37, 41) and some other areas. For viral infections, investigations mainly focus on HIV (42), HCV (43) and some large DNA viruses such as herpes virus, (44). We have not seen such reports on picornaviruses thus far.

While interest in the traditional DNA-based antiviral antisense field has slowed in recent years, siRNAs have been developing rapidly in parallel. In many cases, RNAi has replaced DNA-based antisense as the gene silencing tool of choice in a majority of biological systems. In 2002, siRNAs were first tested as antiviral agents against the coding region of poliovirus (45); this study opened the door for successful siRNA silencing of many other picornavirus genes. Both structural and nonstructural proteins appear to be effective antiviral targets. The theoretical design of siRNAs has been thoroughly explored (46). Briefly, up to eight parameters influence efficacy, such as GC-content, lack of inverted repeats, and sensestrand integrity at specific bases called the seed region. These can now be computed by predictive software; various such programs are available online - for example, a recently developed SiVirus (http://siVirus.RNAi.jp), which specifically designs antiviral siRNA (47).

In cultured cells transfected with siRNA, maximal knockdown effect is typically achieved 20-30 hours slower than DNA ASOs, usually between 24-48 hours posttransfection (25). The duration of the siRNA effect is believed to depend significantly on the dilution of the siRNA through cell division – for example, in dividing cancer cell lines, silencing lasts on the order of days, whereas in nondividing fibroblasts a target may be silenced for weeks (48). In animal systems, siRNA confers antiviral effect as long as it remains detectable in the animal system (49); this length can depend on the method and efficiency of delivery, and again is more stable in nondividing differentiated cells than in actively dividing tumor cells (48). Like ASOs, siRNAs are also sensitive to secondary structure in their mRNA targets, and there is a linear inverse relationship between siRNA efficacy and free energy contained in secondary structure bonds.

Modification/analog	Conformation	Stability	Affinity	Efficacy	Test Progress
Phosphorothioate	Chiral B-DNA (123,	Nuclease resistant	↓ Affinity	RNAse H recruiting	Picornavirus in vitro,
	124)				in vivo (26); HCV in
					clinical trials (125)
Ribose 2' OMe or alkyl; an	C3'-endo	Exo, endo-nuclease	↑RNA affinity (↑ hydration	Steric block only,	Picornavirus in vitro;
electronegative group at the 2'	polymorphism (126)	repellant (steric)	in minor groove)	no RNAse H	cancer, TNF-α in
position is critical for function		↑thermo stability (↑		recruiting	clinical trials
		hydration in minor			
		groove) (126)			
Locked nucleic acid	Rigid C3'-endo (127)	Highly stable	High affinity	High; chimeras can	HCV in vivo (58)
				activate RNAse H	
				(128)	
Peptide nucleic acid	Rigid P-form helix	Not recognized by	Extremely high;	High; steric	HIV in vitro (61)
-	(129)	nucleases or	PNA>DNA>RNA; will	hindrance and	
		peptidases (129)	displace a DNA duplex	disruption of	
		•••	and/or form triplex (129)	secondary structure	
Phosphorodiamidate	Unknown	Not recognized by	↑RNA affinity	No RNAse H	Picornavirus in vitro,
Morpholino		nucleases	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	recruiting; steric	in vivo
_				block of translation	

 Table 2. Summary of common nucleic acid chemical modifications in antisense agents

siRNA antiviral strategies have had considerable success in animal models, effectively inhibiting coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3) (49), FMDV (50), SARS coronavirus (6), RSV (51), herpes virus (52) and others. To our knowledge, there are no ongoing clinical trials of siRNA agents against picornaviruses.

6. CHEMICAL MODIFICATIONS OF ANTISENSE

Both DNA ASOs and siRNA are highly susceptible to degradation before they are able to affect their target sequence. To protect ASOs, chemical modifications have been made to various parts of the nucleotide. A summary of the commonly used modifications are listed in Table 2 and illustrated in Figure 2, and the biochemical impact of these and other modifications are extensively reviewed elsewhere (53). Each modification is intended to increase one or more of the compound's nuclease resistance, thermal stability, target specificity, sequence affinity and cellular uptake, although a modification designed to improve one of these factors may harm another.

The first generation of ASOs has a modified backbone that confounds the recognition of the standard phosphodiester linkage by nucleases, but maintains the overall activity of an unmodified ASO. The phosphorothioate linkage, replacing a non-bridging oxygen with a sulfur atom, achieved this effect. The second generation of ASOs has an additional alkyl moiety to the 2' carbon of the ribose sugar ring to increase conformational stability and target affinity, and block the backbone from nuclease attack. The moiety (2'R) can vary in length and contain other bonds or charges; the chemical properties of more than 20 possible configurations of 2'R have been examined. A third generation of ASOs has significantly altered nucleotide compositions. The most extensively tested 3rd generation ASOs against picornaviruses are those of the morpholino group, which have a morpholine ring in place of the deoxyribose sugar. Due to many industryacademia collaborations established by AVI-Biopharma, a proprietary antisense morpholino with phosphorodiamidate backbone linkages (PMO) has been tested against CVB3 (54) and FMDV (55), as well as other +ssRNA viruses such as SARS-CoV (5), West Nile and Dengue viruses (56).

The inter-study consistency of the PMO ASO chemistry as well as the antiviral testing methodology makes comparative evaluations of these compounds relatively straightforward compared to individual studies using custom-developed ASOs that contain a variable mixture of other ASOs modifications. The morpholino structure cannot be recognized by nucleases, is extremely stable and can maintain antiviral activity in cultured cells days after entering the cell, when the cells themselves die from overconfluence (54). Morpholinos have an increased affinity for RNA compared to natural nucleic acid oligos but cannot induce cellular RNase H activity. Many custom designed antiviral oligos have successfully inhibited viral replication in cells and/or in animals, but none have progressed to clinical trials, likely due to the cytotoxic side effects of the PMO molecule or its associated drug carrier molecule.

Another configuration of third-generation ASOs is the locked nucleic acid (LNA) designed to be conformationally frozen with extremely high affinity for target sequences. Various studies have shown that LNA oligos have high stability, affinity and specificity in vitro and in vivo, with particular research focus on hepatitis C virus, however in animal systems they are also hepatotoxic (57, 58); reviewed in (59). To our knowledge, ASOs containing the LNA chemistry have not been used against picornaviruses. Peptide nucleic acids (PNA) have abandoned the ring structure altogether in favor of a non-cyclical structure with a peptide backbone. PNA have a neutral charge, which has both advantages and drawbacks; the neutral molecules are not very soluble in water and will therefore tend to form hydrophobic aggregates. Neutrality also prevents them from easily passing through cell membranes, limiting their application as therapeutics in the absence of a carrier molecule. Diffusions studies have shown that both PNA and unmodified DNA ASOs are poorly taken up across the membrane (60). At the same time, the neutrality greatly increases PNA affinity for other nucleic acids because the negatively charged strand is not repulsed by another negatively charged strand. PNA are currently being refined with various delivery methods in order to overcome their limitations and have been used as antiviral agents against HIV (61).



3rd Generation

Figure 2. Commonly used nucleotide modifications and nucleotide analogues in antisense oligo synthesis. A, unmodified DNA. B, phosphorothioate modification uses a sulfur atom to evade nuclease recognition. C, 2'-O-Methyl modification sterically hinders nuclease access. (equivalent ribonucleotide modifications are used for siRNA).D, phosphorodiamidate modification with morpholine ring is a neutral nucleotide analogue completely resistant to nuclease degradation. E, locked nucleic acids are locked into the C3 endo conformation and typically replace flanking nucleotides around a core of unmodified DNA in chimeric mixmer oligos. F, peptide nucleic acids are DNA analogues with extremely high affinity for both DNA and RNA and can invade existing genoming strands.

siRNAs have also been engineered with chemical modifications similar to those used in DNA-based ASOs. Since siRNA is rapidly degraded in the bloodstream, both phosphorothioate and 2'O-methyl modifications are used as protection against nuclease attack (62, 63). Because the most important strand in siRNA-RISC activity is the antisense strand (complimentary to the target sequence), the sense strand can be most easily modified without significantly reducing overall efficacy. The maximum amount of chemical modification resulting in the best stability-efficacy tradeoff is best determined empirically and has previously been studied by analyzing siRNA degradation products in human plasma (64).

The mixing or spacing of normal nucleotides with modified nucleotides in ASOs or siRNA is a common strategy to protect the drug at key sites but leave the original biological activity intact. Called mixmer, chimeric, or gapmer ASOs, they are typically stretches of phosphorothioate or regular phosphodiester ssDNA, flanked on both sides by modified bases such as 2nd generation 2'OMe phosphorothioate nucleotides or locked nucleic acids. This confers much of the affinity and protection of the methylated ribose with the RNAse H recruiting activity of PS ASOs, and chimeric siRNA are able to activate the RNAi pathway in cells.

7. ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF ANTISENSE

A number of different strategies have been attempted to develop new drugs to inhibit picornaviral replication. Currently, the only promising candidate for clinical application in humans is pleconaril, a smallmolecule competitor of the antireceptor harbored in the viral VP1 capsid protein for the HRV receptor. Thus this compound can block HRV attachment to cell membrane. Another strategy is the development of viral protease inhibitors since viral proteases play an important role in viral replication and pathogenesis. However, the development of such inhibitors highly depends on the elucidation of picornavirus protease crystal structures, of which only a few are available (65, 66). Another possible approach is to use soluble receptor peptides to directly compete with viral access to the true receptor on the cell surface; however this approach needs the application of the drug prior to infection to successfully block CVB3 entry and replication in mice and prevent viral myocarditis and pancreatitis (67). Still other drugs have focused primarily on amplifying the host immune responses to infection through interferon or similar treatments; these will not be discussed here.

Theoretically, the principal appeal of antisense compounds as drugs is the ability to customize their sequence to a uniquely specific target sequence. Thus, it may achieve a specific downregulation of a given gene. Antisense is expected to form Watson-Crick base pairing only with complementary nucleotide sequences that are an exact match, with diminishing affinity as the base-pairing specificity is lost. Unfortunately, a high degree of specificity is also a downfall: picornaviruses and other RNA viruses often have highly error-prone polymerases which facilitate rapid generation of escape mutants to the sequence-specific antisense treatments (68-70). Several studies outlined in section 9 attempt to address this issue by targeting multiple conserved regions of the viral genome, or targeting the viral receptor of the host.

siRNAs frequently have off-target effects, silencing genes other than the target and potentially interfering with normal host cell processes (reviewed in (64, 71)). Thus when designing novel antisense compounds, it may be most practical to target several regions of the viral gene or gene-regulatory element to be downregulated, and subsequently screen a battery of candidates for the efficacy of the desired knockdown effect compared to the incidence of nonspecific toxic effects. Many companies that offer commercially available siRNA offer a certain subset that has been experimentally validated by the company for off-target effects (Ambion, Dharmacon). DNA ASOs also have nonspecific effects in vivo. In particular, early generation phosphorothioate ASOs bind to intracellular proteins, making them unavailable for antisense silencing of the target and interfering with normal cellular processes, with a majority being bound by human replication protein A (RPA). Under certain conditions, phosphorothioate-modified ASOs have up to 300 fold greater binding affinity for proteins with DNA-binding properties, compared to native ssDNA (72). The alkylation of the ribose (the 2'OMe second generation modification) also increases the affinity of DNA oligos for DNA-binding proteins, but significantly attenuates the protein binding of phosphorothioate alone (73). Similarly, 2'OMe-PS-ASO hybrid ASOs have a significantly lower affinity for RPA, and a significantly higher affinity for their

target, compared to PS-ASO without ribose methylation (74). When administered systemically, PS-ASOs are fairly stable against degradation in the serum, but can elicit an immune response at therapeutic-level doses. This has led to the termination of several clinical studies requiring systemic application of DNA ASOs.

The toxicity of antisense has been reviewed previously (75, 76). Detailed information about the true toxicity of these compounds is limited, since such toxicity represents negative data with respect to progress in antisense, and are usually underreported compared to positive data. The harmful effects of antisense are dose dependent (77). However, the exact toxic dose is difficult to generalize, because many ASOs are chimeras custom designed to consist of a combination of first, second and third generation chemistries that may contribute different adverse reactions in vivo or in clinical trials. More importantly, toxicity is also dependent on the method of delivery (see below). Nearly all recent in vivo studies use some forms of delivery or targeting systems and in some cases, the delivery system is more toxic and/or immunogenic than the antisense oligo itself. However, the lack of a specific delivery vehicle may increase antisense uptake in collateral organs, leading to increased nonspecific side effects.

8. DELIVERY SYSTEMS

The dilemma of any antiviral or antimicrobial drug is that greater dosages increase both drug efficacy as well as toxic side effects. Since many ASOs have had undesirable immunogenic or other side effects in clinical trials, other methods of delivering therapeutics need to be explored to lower the effective dose. There are two primary considerations that would improve the efficiency of ASO or siRNA drugs: increased cell uptake and greater target organ specificity. An increase in either is expected to reduce the overall levels of antisense required and therefore reduce side-effects.

Antisense oligos are not efficiently internalized by cells. Even modified oligos applied systemically that avoid degradation and arrive at their target intact are typically unable to pass through cellular membranes without additional assistance of a carrier molecule or other delivery vehicle. Negatively charged DNA or modified DNA ASOs are highly polar, causing a high repulsive force with the hydrophobic region of the lipid bilayer. Recent 3rd generation ASOs such as PMO and PNA have a neutral charge, but they still contain significant polar components, and empirically cross the membrane at approximately the same rate as regular ASOs (60). Similarly, siRNA is inefficiently taken up in some cell populations, but is readily internalized in others. In order to demonstrate proof-in-principle that an ASO or siRNA agent can inhibit viral replication, many studies use reagents such as lipidbased cell transfection reagents or conjugated penetrating peptides to facilitate drug entry into infected cell populations. However, an effective consistent in vivo and clinical delivery system combining both cell targeting and cell entry mechanisms is still under development. The



Figure 3. Antisense delivery strategies. Chemically modified or non-modified ASOs or siRNAs are delivered *in vitro* and *in vivo* after liposome encapsulation and/or conjugation with either penetrating peptides or cholesterol. SiRNAs can also be delivered by systemic and local administration of viral vector expressing the shRNA or the pRNA multimers linked with both siRNAs and receptor ligands.

following will briefly discuss several antisense drug delivery systems (Figure 3):

8.1. Liposomes

Based on transfection reagents, lipid-based delivery methods have also been used to transport DNA ASOs and siRNA. Common lipid molecules such as N- (1- (2,3-dioleoyloxy)propyl,N,N,N-DOTAP trimethylammonium chloride) - DOTMA N- (1- (2,3dioleyloxy)propyl) N,N,N-trimethylammonium chloride and SAINT-2 N-methyl-4 (dioleyl)methylpyridiniumchloride, vary slightly by headgroup charge and tail-group organization. The amphipathic lipids, similar to those of a biological membrane, are mixed with antisense solution and form liposomes composed of a bilayer encapsulating the negatively charged DNA or RNA (reviewed in (78)). The interaction between nucleic acid and cationic lipid forms stable lipoplexes resistant to nuclease degradation. Lipoplexes are able to bind with target cells, possibly through negatively charged surface proteins such as proteoglycans; entry is poorly understood, but some liposomes use a clatherin-dependent and caveolin-mediated endocvtosis before releasing their antisense contents into the cytoplasm for gene silencing activity.

Lipid-based nanoplexes, containing catioinic polyethylene glycolated-polyethyleneimine (PEI-P) have been used to deliver siRNA. Custom nanoplexes can be designed with peptide ligands such as Arg-Gly-Asp conjugated to the PEG to deliver the nanoplexes to their target (79). Furthermore, PEI is able to form non-covalent interpolylectrolyte complexes with DNA or RNA (80). For this reason PEI with various molecular weights and other modifications has been used as transfection reagents *in vitro* and *in vivo* to establish its efficacy for nucleic acid delivery.

Proprietary liposome technology is being developed in the biotechnology sector as a method for delivering siRNA. Protiva Biotherapeutics (Burnaby, British Columbia) is marketing pre-clinical and clinical grade stable nucleic-acid-lipid particles (SNALPs). SNALPs are spherical lipid bilayer structures approximately 140 nm in size, composed of both cationic and neutral lipids, with an outer shell of PEG-based hydrophobic molecules. These lipoplexes have been used by Sirna therapeutics (Boulder, Colorado) to deliver 2'-O-Me modified siRNAs against Heptatis B Virus (HBV) in mice (81). The Atufect lipid (Atugen, Berlin) has a highly charged head group that can efficiently deliver siRNA in lipoplexes when mixed with uncharged helper lipids. Transfection with Atufect increases cellular uptake of Cy3labeled siRNAs by approximately 1000-fold and furthermore directs siRNAs to late endosomes, rather than lysosomes where naked siRNAs typically accumulate. Atuplexes also improved biodistribution of labeled siRNA and immunogenic responses (interferon, cytokines) were not detected in vivo (82).

8.2. Viral vectors

Viruses themselves have gained significant attention as tools that can be manipulated to deliver a variety of gene therapies – either as a supplement for a deficient or mutant gene in its host, or as short hairpin RNA (shRNA) which will be processed into siRNA and subsequently silence its target (reviewed in (83)). Perhaps one of the most widely used viral vectors is adenovirus. Adenovirus is capable of transiently delivering a DNA sequence to the nucleus of a variety of dividing and nondividing cell types and its immunogenicity has been greatly improved in newer-generation vectors with deleted early genes (E1-E4). The DNA is transcribed by RNA polymerase II, driven by the CMV promoter, and may code for a single long mRNA which is self complimentary and can fold into shRNA. Furthermore, the coxsackie and adenovirus receptor (CAR) is a common receptor to both coxsackie B viruses and adenoviruses 2 and 5, making adenobased vectors (Ad5) an appealing choice to specifically target cell populations infected with CVB3. Fechner and colleagues took advantage of this fact by delivering an AdV anti-CAR shRNA to cardiac myocytes, demonstrating that subsequent challenge with CVB3 was blocked (84). The viral genome itself has also been targeted with Ad5-shRNA; in cultured cells and guinea pigs, Ad5-shRNA transduction against FMDV polymerase or structural protein 1D has a significant protective effect (85).

Adeno-associated virus (AAV), a parvovirus that does not cause human disease, is a promising alternative for gene therapies and is likely the safest viral vector since it also has low toxicity and low immunogenicity. Although the AAV vector can only carry up to a 5kb transgene, this is more than sufficient to deliver multiple shRNA sequences. AAV can also be pseudotyped, by packaging the genome of the extensively characterized AAV-2 into the capsid of another AAV serotype. In this way the tropism of the viral vector can be partially customized, since AAVs of different serotypes infect a large range of tissues, with tropism for serotypes 1-8 already characterized in the eye, lung, muscle, liver, pancreas, and CNS (86).

A third major class of shRNA delivery vectors is the Lentivirus, a retrovirus usually derived from HIV-1 or -2. Lentivirus can transduce dividing and non-dividing cells. They possess an intrinsic ability to cross the nuclear membrane and integrate the sequence it is carrying into the genome of its delivery target, resulting in its constitutive expression under the control of the PolIII transcription promoter. This continual expression could remove the need to reapply transient treatments as with Adenomediated delivery. However, there is an added risk of insertional mutagenesis leading to cancer. Currently, lentivirus delivery of shRNA typically is not able to exceed 80-85% knockdown (87) if directed against endogenous genes. To date, the main drawback of all viral delivery vectors are their lack of target cell specificity, as they transduce a variety of cell types in the body. Furthermore, the large-scale production and packaging of recombinant viral particles remains a challenge for practical distribution since these viruses are engineered to be non-replicating.

8.3. Conjugation of cell-penetrating peptides or cholesterol

Certain peptides consisting of positively charged amino acids have the ability to pass through the cell membrane, carrying with them any antisense drugs to

which they are conjugated. The HIV-TAT peptide is known to have this property, and several laboratories have taken advantage of the TAT chemistry as a cell-delivery signal. Other positively charged peptide sequences, such as arginine-rich peptides (ARPs), have a similar effect and are able to transport antisense past the cell membrane with a high efficiency. Work from our laboratory has demonstrated the cell penetrance of ARP-conjugated, FITC-tagged PMOs by confocal imaging in HeLa and HL-1 cardiomyocytes, as well as tissue distribution in mouse hearts, also by confocal imaging of slides (54). AVI Biopharma is pursuing arginine rich peptides as conjugates to the 3rd generation phosphorodiamidate morpholino antisense oligos, which are taken up by cells with high efficiency. Both TAT and ARPs are not very stable in human serum, but arginine can be interspersed with 6aminohexanoic acid (X) or β -alanine to increase stability while maintaining activity (88).

A similar strategy for enhancing the efficiency of antisense delivery is the conjugation of siRNA with derivatives of cholesterol, lithocholic or lauric acid (89). The cholesterol attachment seems to stabilize siRNA by binding to human serum albumin, resulting increased uptake by the liver. Soutschek and coworkers conjugated cholesterol to the 3' end of the sense strand of siRNA. Intravenous injections of this conjugate in mice resulted in uptake into multiple organs and efficiently reduced apolipoprotein B levels in the liver and jejunum (90). This approach has not been used for picornaviruses.

For drug administration *in vivo*, a number of different approaches have been developed. In the majority of studies performed in mice, rapid infusion by hydrodynamic injection of siRNA or siRNA coding vectors achieves the best delivery efficiency (91). In this method, a large volume of nucleic acid, usually about 8-12% of the body weight, is rapidly injected via the tail vein. Several groups have used this technique to successfully introduce siRNAs or siRNA-expressing plasmid into mice and demonstrated an effective silencing of target genes (92, 93). However, delivery is restricted to highly perfused tissues, such as liver, spleen or kidneys and the technique is not clinically transferable to humans.

8.4. Modular nano-scale vectors – pRNA

In order to integrate the two concepts of cell membrane permeability and target organ specificity, modular multimeric delivery vectors capable of packaging several functional groups (therapeutic sequence and receptor ligand) have been developed recently. One such vector is the packaging RNA (pRNA) of the bacteriphage Φ 29, which is a partially double-stranded RNA molecule of approximately 100 bps (94). As a ribonucleic acid-based vector, pRNA may be naturally extended to contain siRNA sequences at its 5' and 3' terminal regions that will be cleaved by Dicer into siRNAs, much in the same way as pRNA naturally forms dimers, trimers and shRNA. hexamers through complementary intermolecular basepairing between their stem-loop regions (called right and left handed loops). The sequence of the pRNA can be

engineered to carry a siRNA or a receptor ligand, which can form dimers or trimers consisting of siRNA:ligand, where siRNA is directed against a viral sequence and the ligand binds to a target cell receptor, mediating drug specific internalization by endocyotsis. This technique has been successful in the silencing of oncogenes *in vitro* and *ex vivo* using folate receptor-mediated endocytosis (94). We have used pRNA containing siRNA sequences tartgeting viral RNA in our laboratory and found that coxsackievirus replication in cells is strongly inhibited (data not published).

9. ANTISENSE AGAINST SPECIFIC PICORNAVIRUSES

Individual picornaviruses have received varying amounts of antiviral research attention in recent years, often due to the availability of alternative treatments or vaccines, as well as the overall commonality of specific species. The most frequently tested antisense-based drug candidates of the past several years for both picornaviruses and other prevalent viruses are 3rd generation PMO ASOs and siRNAs. Individual experiments for evaluation of antipicornavirals are detailed below.

9.1. Hepatitis A

Since the advent of an effective, universally available vaccine to Hepatitis A in 1994 and a combination HAV-HAB vaccination in 1996, interest in developing a therapeutic has waned. The success of the vaccine is in part because only a single serotype of hepatitis A exists. However, studies have shown that siRNA targeting the IRES of HAV inhibits translation of the HAV genome *in vitro* (95). siRNA targeting the 2C-1 stem loop, a highly exposed region of the HAV genome, also inhibits viral replication in cultured cells by up to 4-log, with the effect diminishing over a course of 12 days (68).

9.2. Poliovirus

Poliovirus has been eradicated in western industrialized nations, although outbreaks do still exist in underdeveloped countries. PV has a well-known vaccine based on Jonas Salk's "Inactivated Polio" vaccine propagated in cells and then inactivated with formalin treatment. This treatment does not prevent infection and transmission through the gastrointestinal (GI), fecal-oral route; however, it does prevent infection of the motor neurons and viremia, preventing the paralytic effects of PV. An oral vaccine based on a temperature-attenuated PV has also been used successfully, and also acts through the GI system. The WHO has been spearheading a worldwide campaign to completely eradicate polio and remove the need for future vaccination; however the effort is still underway. Overall the need and interest to pursue a PV antisense therapeutic remains low given the proven efficacy Since PV has been studied most of vaccination. extensively in molecular biology and pathogenesis than other picornavirus, researchers usually use PV as a model system to perform a variety of studies.

A seminal paper was published in Nature in 2002, demonstrating the use of siRNA against poliovirus

capsid protein or RNA-dependent RNA polymerase to transiently inhibit viral replication in cultured HeLa cells for 24 hours (>48 hours if combined) (45). However, PV efficiently mutates to escape the application of siRNA, which is typically very sensitive to mismatches, particularly in the central region of the siRNA oligo. Recent study with siRNA has demonstrated that pools of multiple siRNAs against highly conserved regions can overcome escape mutations, and indeed completely cure cultured cells in a persistent model of PV infection even after several months of PV incubation and the presence of mutated virus (96).

9.3. Rhinovirus

Although over 100 different known serotypes of human rhinovirus (HRV) exist, and the symptoms of HRV infection are relatively mild and brief (upper respiratory tract infection with little cytolytic effect), the virus is so common that interest in developing a therapeutic has been high. However, due to the variability in serotypes, the favored approach is to inhibit the virus entry or viral 3C protease with small-molecule pharmacological inhibitors, rather than attempt a sequence-specific treatment that may be easily avoided by mutation. Accordingly, clinical trials to date have focused on such inhibitors, in particular the WIN family of capsid-binding drugs and the intranasal spray based on 3C protease inhibitor ruprintivir. In recent vears, a small molecule inhibitor of the viral structural protein VP1, named Pleconaril, has entered phase II clinical trials. This compound can block HRV interaction with host cell surface receptor and then block viral entry (97).

Currently, no clinical trials have used an antisense approach against HRV. *In vitro*, there are no reported uses of DNA ASOs inhibiting rhinovirus; however, siRNA has been tested in cultured cells against serotype 16 of HRV. Targeting various coding regions in the HRV genome significantly inhibited viral titre released in supernatants of HRV-infected HeLa cells, with particular efficacy against sequences in the VP1, VP4, 2C and 3D regions (98)

9.4. Coxsackievirus

Coxsackieviruses represent one of the groups that could have significant potential for antiviral antisense therapeutic applications, since there is no available vaccine, there are demonstrated conserved targets in the genome, and there are demonstrated positive effects of antisense treatments in vitro and in vivo. Furthermore. coxsackievirus infection can have several serious debilitating or lethal outcomes; type A coxsackieviruses can infect skeletal myocytes, causing flaccid paralysis. Type B coxsackievirus typically causes pancreatitis, aseptic meningitis, and myocarditis. Acute myocarditis from coxsackie B infection is a surprisingly common cause of sudden death and is particularly dangerous to children and young adults; in addition, viral myocarditis often enters its late phase, dilated cardiomyopathy, resulting in heart failure requiring transplant. Thus, the need for a treatment is pressing.

Several variations of antisense oligomers have been studied in our laboratory showing very promising efficacy, although none have reached clinical trials to date. First generation ASOs applied in vitro targeting the 5' or 3' end of the genome, the IRES and the AUG start codon region reduced viral RNA replication detected by RT-PCR, viral titre detected by plaque assay, and viral protein production detected by western blot (31). When applied intravenously, the same PS ASOs in mice protectively inhibited viral RNA levels, myocarditic lesions, and viral titre in heart tissue (26).Peptide-linked morpholino oligomers (PPMOs) have had similar success, and can also easily enter cells via their membrane-penetrating argininerich peptides without any additional delivery vehicle. In collaboration with AVI BioPharma, we have demonstrated that PPMOs targeting the CVB3 IRES inhibit viral replication and viral titre by approximately 2-log in cells in a dose-dependent, sequence specific manner and can maintain activity up to 4-5 days after application. Similarly, viral titres in infected mouse hearts were 2-log lower in groups receiving antiviral PPMOs, compared to groups receiving scrambled PPMOs or PBS (54). PNAs, another class of 3rd generation ASOs, have also been tested against CVB3 in HeLa cells using lysine-flanked 12-mers to increase cell uptake (99). Because of its extremely high affinity for natural RNA, PNA is able to invade and displace normal secondary structure that is a strict requirement for the highly ordered 5'UTR structure containing the CVB3 IRES. PNAs applied before infection protected cells from the cytopathic effects of CVB3 challenge in a dose-dependent manner, reducing cell death by approximately 50% at 12.5 μ M and 80% at 50 μ M.

siRNA against 2A protease significantly inhibited viral replication and viral titre when transiently transfected in cultured HeLa cells (>92% and 2-log factor, As with PV, the antiviral effect was respectively). disrupted by mutations in the central strand region, and mismatch was tolerated near the 3' end and not the 5' end (100); furthermore, the siRNA effect is mediated by the antisense strand to the viral genome, rather than the sense strand complimentary to the viral negative strand intermediate. This finding was further conformed by anther report (101). When applied systemically to mice, siRNA targeting 2A had a significant protective effect if applied six and fourteen hours after infection, including reduced viral replication and tissue injury, as well as increased survival (49). shRNA processed into siRNA was also effective against CVB3 3D RNA polymerase and structural protein VP1, both in cells and mice, where viral pancreatitis was significantly reduced (102). Schubert and colleagues used the SiDEx double expression vector to simultaneously transfect two siRNA sequences targeting the CVB3 3D polymerase sequence in a GFP reporter construct. Double expression of both siRNAs successfully suppressed reporter expression despite the intentional introduction of an artificial point mutation (simulating an escape mutation) that caused a mismatch with one of the two siRNAs (103).

9.5. Foot-and-Mouth Disease Virus

Also called hoof-and-mouth disease virus, FMDV infects cloven-hooved ungulates and primarily affects the agricultural industry by infecting livestock. Transmission to humans is extremely rare, and the species barrier in FMDV infection has remained intact over hundreds of years of close human-animal exposure, with the nature of this barrier remaining largely unknown. Although vaccination programs are used to curtail outbreaks in livestock, the variability of the virus strains and problems inactivating 100% of the vaccine has led to some infections escaping these preventative measures. Therefore, FMDV is a reasonable candidate for antiviral antisense therapies in animals.

Several antisense candidates have been tested Early unmodified RNA-based for this purpose. antisense against FMDV transiently suppressed viral replication in BHK cells in a sequence-specific and dose-dependent manner. Effective targets were either strand of the 3'UTR, or the sense strand of the 5'UTR (104), with inhibition approaching 90%. A similar inhibitory effect was achieved by another report through combination of 5' transcript with either sense or antisense RNA from the 3' region of the genome (105). Other early experiments using unmodified DNA ASOs surprisingly achieved a range of only 30-50% inhibition of FMDV when directed against the AUG start codon region (30). Recent work has focused on morpholino ASOs linked to cell-penetrating peptides (PPMOs). PPMOs targeting certain conserved regions across six FMDV serotypes were selected and screened for efficacy. PPMOs against the AUG start codon were particularly effective, reducing viral titres by a factor of 4-log at concentrations of 1µM in the A serotype. The most versatile PPMO targeted the 5D stem loop just upstream of the start codon, reducing viral replication significantly in all seven tested serotypes, suggesting that the requirement for the 5D region is the most conserved or most PMO-accessible region (55).

siRNA targeting FMDV VP1 inhibited viral replication by 80-90% in cells and also reduced susceptibility of suckling mice to FMDV infection (50). Moreover, delivery of shRNA against FMDV 1D structural protein or 3D polymerase via adenoviral delivery vector is protective against subsequent LD50 viral challenge in swine and guinea pigs (85). The nonstructural protein 2B is also an effective target to inhibit FMDV replication. Transfection of a plasmid containing shRNA against 2B in cultured cells inhibits subsequent infectious virion production by 97%, and this inhibition does not depend on interferon-activated genes such as PKR, which had no change in levels after transfection (106).

In order to design siRNA that could inhibit all serotypes of FMDV, Kahana and colleagues performed a bioinformatic search for regions of 22 bp with 100% homology across serotypes, and found three such regions – one within the 3B coding region and two within the 3D coding region. As measured by real time RT-qPCR, the most effective of these siRNA reduced FMDV mRNA levels by 80-92% in cultured cells infected with the O1 serotype. A mixture of all three siRNAs reached 98% inhibition of viral RNA compared to control (107). In a

similar experiment, Liu et al. selected conserved sequences in the VP4, VPg, POL, and 3'UTR regions using conventional NCBI BLASTN to find stretches that were 85-98% homologous between four serotypes: O, A, C and Asia 1. The custom siRNA were applied individually and the 50% tissue culture infectious dose was measured, however, no single sequence proved highly effective against all serotypes tested, suggesting a mixture may be required (108).

9.6. Other Picornaviruses

Other enteroviruses are often highly related to PV and CV – for example, coxsackievirus A23 was reclassified as echovirus 9, and echovirus 28 was reclassified as rhinovirus 1A. Many of these related picornaviruses have also been subject to similar antisense treatments, particularly siRNA which can be easily custom-made to order from several biotech companies. For example, human enterovirus B replication was significantly inhibited in cultured cells by targeting the *cis*-acting replication element (CRE) for the viral 2C protein (109).

Significant RNA interference work has been done against enterovirus 71 (EV71), the major causative agent of hand foot and mouth disease in infants. Transfection of a DNA plasmid coding for shRNA targeting EV71 VP1 or 3D proteins inhibited viral protein production in cultured cells (110). Direct transfection of various 19mer siRNA against nonstructural genes also inhibits EV71 RNA replication and viral titre in a dose-dependent manner (111) in cultured cells, whereas 27mer siRNA proved even more effective at 10-fold lower concentrations (112). In suckling mice, both 19-mer siRNA and shRNA targeting the 3D RNA polymerase of enterovirus 71 significantly inhibits infection and development of hand, foot and mouth disease (113), without evoking an immunogenic response to the therapy.

10. CONCLUSIONS

Both DNA and siRNA antisense oligomers against picornaviruses are viable and effective agents to inhibit viral replication. At present, no such drugs against picornavirus have been approved for distribution, primarily due to a number of issues that need to be resolved. These include drug stability, toxicity, specific delivery and offtargeting. Despite the challenges that remain, the use of Vitravene for treatment of CMV infection indicates that there is a theoretical and practical basis for effective antipicornavirals, but also that new work will be required to refine efficacy and reduce side effects. Developments in these areas have led to a number of antisense oligo-based therapeutics in phase I, II and III clinical trials for cancers, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes and infectious diseases. For viral infection, HCV and RSV treatments have entered phase I clinical trials, both of which have promising futures (http://assuragen.com/therapeutics/thera trials.html). With the progress in improved drug design, chemical modification and specific delivery, effective antipicornavirals will be eventually developed and this timeline will not be very long.

11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Heart and Stroke Foundation of BC and Yukon and Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Ji Yuan is supported by a Doctoral Research Award from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and Michael Smith Foundation of Health Research. Zhen Liu is supported by a Doctoral Research Award from the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada. Dr. Alhousseynou Sall is supported in part by the IMPACT postdoctoral fellowship.

12. REFERENCES

1. Paul Serrano, Jordi Gomez and Encarnacion Martinez-Salas: Characterization of a cyanobacterial RNase P ribozyme recognition motif in the IRES of foot-and-mouth disease virus reveals a unique structural element. *RNA* 13, 849-859 (2007)

2. Jasmine H.P. Chan, Shuhui Lim and W. S. Fred Wong: Antisense oligonucleotides: from design to therapeutic application. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 33, 533-540 (2006)

3. Charles Marwick: First "antisense" drug will treat CMV retinitis. *Jama* 280, 871 (1998)

4. John G. McHutchison, Keyur Patel, Paul Pockros, Lisa Nyberg, Stephen Pianko, Rosie Z. Yu, F. Andrew Dorr and T. Jesse Kwoh: A phase I trial of an antisense inhibitor of hepatitis C virus (ISIS 14803), administered to chronic hepatitis C patients. *J Hepatol* 44, 88-96 (2006)

5. Benjamin W. Neuman, David A. Stein, Andrew D. Kroeker, Michael J. Churchill, Alice M. Kim, Peter Kuhn, Philip Dawson, Hong M. Moulton, Richard K. Bestwick, Patrick L. Iversen and Michael J. Buchmeier: Inhibition, escape, and attenuated growth of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus treated with antisense morpholino oligomers. *J Virol* 79, 9665-9676 (2005)

6. Bao-jian Li, Qingquan Tang, Du Cheng, Chuan Qin, Frank Y. Xie, Qiang Wei, Jun Xu, Yijia Liu, Bo-jian Zheng, Martin C. Woodle, Nanshan Zhong and Patrick Y. Lu: Using siRNA in prophylactic and therapeutic regimens against SARS coronavirus in Rhesus macaque. *Nat Med* 11, 944-951 (2005)

7. Zhewei Liu, Chris M. Carthy, Paul Cheung, Lubos Bohunek, Janet E. Wilson, Bruce M. McManus and Decheng Yang: Structural and functional analysis of the 5' untranslated region of coxsackievirus B3 RNA: In vivo translational and infectivity studies of full-length mutants. *Virology* 265, 206-217 (1999)

8. Decheng Yang, Janet E. Wilson, Daniel R. Anderson, Lubos Bohunek, Carol Cordeiro, Reinhard Kandolf and Bruce M. McManus: In vitro mutational and inhibitory analysis of the cis-acting translational elements within the 5' untranslated region of coxsackievirus B3: potential targets for antiviral action of antisense oligomers. *Virology* 228, 63-73 (1997)

9. Jinhua Wang, Judith M. J. E. Bakkers, Joep M. Galama, Hilbert J. Bruins Slot, Evgeny V. Pilipenko, Vadim I. Agol and Willem J.G. Melchers: Structural requirements of the higher order RNA kissing element in the enteroviral 3'UTR. *Nucleic Acids Res* 27, 485-490 (1999)

10. Harsh B. Pathak, Jamie J. Arnold, Phillip N. Wiegand, Michele R.S. Hargittai and Craig E. Cameron: Picornavirus genome replication: assembly and organization of the VPg uridylylation ribonucleoprotein (initiation) complex. *J Biol Chem* 282, 16202-16213 (2007)

11. Katy Moffat, Caroline Knox, Gareth Howell, Sarah J. Clark, H. Yang, Graham J. Belsham, Martin Ryan and Thomas Wileman: Inhibition of the secretory pathway by foot-and-mouth disease virus 2BC protein is reproduced by coexpression of 2B with 2C, and the site of inhibition is determined by the subcellular location of 2C. *J Virol* 81, 1129-1139 (2007)

12. Natalya L. Teterina, Eric Levenson, Mario S. Rinaudo, Denise Egger, Kurt Bienz, Alexander E. Gorbalenya and Ellie Ehrenfeld: Evidence for functional protein interactions required for poliovirus RNA replication. *J Virol* 80, 5327-5337 (2006)

13. Stephen J. Plotch and Olga Palant: Poliovirus protein 3AB forms a complex with and stimulates the activity of the viral RNA polymerase, 3Dpol. *J Virol* 69, 7169-7179 (1995)

14. Vivian O'Donnell, Michael LaRocco, Hernando Duque and Barry Baxt: Analysis of foot-and-mouth disease virus internalization events in cultured cells. *J Virol* 79, 8506-8518 (2005)

15. Luc Snyers, Hannes Zwickl and Dieter Blaas: Human rhinovirus type 2 is internalized by clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *J Virol* 77, 5360-5369 (2003)

16. Carolyn B. Coyne and Jeffrey M. Bergelson: Virusinduced Abl and Fyn kinase signals permit coxsackievirus entry through epithelial tight junctions. *Cell* 124, 119-131 (2006)

17. Boerries Brandenburg, Lily Y. Lee, Melike Lakadamyali, Michael J. Rust, Xiaowei Zhuang and James M. Hogle: Imaging Poliovirus Entry in Live Cells. *PLoS Biol* 5, e183 (2007)

18. Iraj K. Ali, Linda McKendrick, Simon J. Morley and Richard J. Jackson: Activity of the hepatitis A virus IRES requires association between the cap-binding translation initiation factor (eIF4E) and eIF4G. *J Virol* 75, 7854-7863 (2001)

19. Padmaja Yalamanchili, Utpal Datta and Asim Dasgupta: Inhibition of host cell transcription by poliovirus: cleavage of transcription factor CREB by

poliovirus-encoded protease 3Cpro. J Virol 71, 1220-1226 (1997)

20. Michael W. Cho, Natalya L. Teterina, Denise Egger, Kurt Bienz and Ellie Ehrenfeld: Membrane rearrangement and vesicle induction by recombinant poliovirus 2C and 2BC in human cells. *Virology* 202, 129-145 (1994)

21. Frank J.M. van Kuppeveld, Joost G.J. Hoenderop, Rolf L.L. Smeets, Peter H.G.M. Willems, Henri B.P.M. Dijkman, Jochem M.D. Galama and Willem J.G. Melchers: Coxsackievirus protein 2B modifies endoplasmic reticulum membrane and plasma membrane permeability and facilitates virus release. *Embo J* 16, 3519-3532 (1997)

22. Robert M. Karwan, Thierry Laroche, Ulrike Wintersberger, Susan M. Gasser and Maximilian Binder: Ribonuclease H (70) is a component of the yeast nuclear scaffold. *J Cell Sci* 96 (Pt 3), 451-459 (1990)

23. Christian Cazenave, Peter Frank, Jean-Jacques Toulme and Werner Busen: Characterization and subcellular localization of ribonuclease H activities from Xenopus laevis oocytes. *J Biol Chem* 269, 25185-25192 (1994)

24. Julia Alter, Fang Lou, Adam Rabinowitz, HaiFang Yin, Jeffrey Rosenfeld, Steve D. Wilton, Terence A. Partridge and Qi Long Lu: Systemic delivery of morpholino oligonucleotide restores dystrophin expression bodywide and improves dystrophic pathology. *Nat Med* 12, 175-177 (2006)

25. Timothy A. Vickers, Seongjoon Koo, C. Frank Bennett, Stanley T. Crooke, Nicholas M. Dean and Brenda F. Baker: Efficient reduction of target RNAs by small interfering RNA and RNase H-dependent antisense agents. A comparative analysis. *J Biol Chem* 278, 7108-7118 (2003)

26. Jane Yuan, Paul K. Cheung, Huifang Mary Zhang, David Chau, Bobby Yanagawa, Caroline Cheung, Honglin Luo, Yingjin Wang, Agripina Suarez, Bruce M. McManus and Decheng Yang: A phosphorothioate antisense oligodeoxynucleotide specifically inhibits coxsackievirus B3 replication in cardiomyocytes and mouse hearts. *Lab Invest* 84, 703-714 (2004)

27. Xiaochen Bo, Shaoke Lou, Daochun Sun, Jing Yang and Shengqi Wang: AOBase: a database for antisense oligonucleotides selection and design. *Nucleic Acids Res* 34, D664-667 (2006)

28. Yu Shao, Yan Wu, Chi Yu Chan, Kathleen McDonough and Ye Ding: Rational design and rapid screening of antisense oligonucleotides for prokaryotic gene modulation. *Nucleic Acids Res* 34, 5660-5669 (2006)

29. Timothy A. Vickers, Jacqueline R. Wyatt and Susan M. Freier: Effects of RNA secondary structure on

cellular antisense activity. Nucleic Acids Res 28, 1340-1347 (2000)

30. Alfonso Gutierrez, Ana Rodriguez, Belen Pintado and Francisco Sobrino: Transient inhibition of foot-andmouth disease virus infection of BHK-21 cells by antisense oligonucleotides directed against the second functional initiator AUG. *Antiviral Res* 22, 1-13 (1993)

31. Aikun Wang, Paul Cheung, Huifang Mary Zhang, Chris M. Carthy, Lubos Bohunek, Janet E. Wilson, Bruce M. McManus and Decheng Yang: Specific inhibition of coxsackievirus B3 translation and replication by phosphorothioate antisense oligodeoxynucleotides. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 45, 1043-1052 (2001)

32. Shou-Wei Ding and Olivier Voinnet: Antiviral immunity directed by small RNAs. *Cell* 130, 413-426 (2007)

33. Sayda M. Elbashir, Winfried Lendeckel and Thomas Tuschl: RNA interference is mediated by 21- and 22-nucleotide RNAs. *Genes Dev* 15, 188-200 (2001)

34. Jesus Gil and Mariano Esteban: Induction of apoptosis by the dsRNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR): mechanism of action. *Apoptosis* 5, 107-114 (2000)

35. Yan Zeng, Rui Yi and Bryan R. Cullen: MicroRNAs and small interfering RNAs can inhibit mRNA expression by similar mechanisms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 100, 9779-9784 (2003)

36. Premlata Shankar, N. Manjunath and Judy Lieberman: The prospect of silencing disease using RNA interference. *JAMA* 293, 1367-1373 (2005)

37. Natascha Bushati and Stephen M. Cohen: microRNA Functions. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 23, 175-205 (2007)

38. Isaac Bentwich, Amir Avniel, Yael Karov, Ranit Aharonov, Shlomit Gilad, Omer Barad, Adi Barzilai, Paz Einat, Uri Einav, Eti Meiri, Eilon Sharon, Yael Spector and Zvi Bentwich: Identification of hundreds of conserved and nonconserved human microRNAs. *Nat Genet* 37, 766-770 (2005)

39. Eugene Berezikov, Victor Guryev, Jose van de Belt, Erno Wienholds, Ronald H. A. Plasterk and Edwin Cuppen: Phylogenetic shadowing and computational identification of human microRNA genes. *Cell* 120, 21-24 (2005)

40. Brian D. Harfe: MicroRNAs in vertebrate development. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 15, 410-415 (2005)

41. Aurora Esquela-Kerscher and Frank J. Slack: Oncomirs - microRNAs with a role in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 6, 259-269 (2006) 42. Yefei Han and Robert F. Siliciano: Keeping quiet: microRNAs in HIV-1 latency. *Nat Med* 13, 1138-1140 (2007)

43. Irene M. Pedersen, Guofeng Cheng, Stefan Wieland, Stefano Volinia, Carlo M. Croce, Francis V. Chisari and Michael David: Interferon modulation of cellular microRNAs as an antiviral mechanism. *Nature* 449, 919-922 (2007)

44. Bryan R. Cullen: Viruses and microRNAs. *Nat Genet* 38 Suppl, S25-30 (2006)

45. Leonid Gitlin, Sveta Karelsky and Raul Andino: Short interfering RNA confers intracellular antiviral immunity in human cells. *Nature* 418, 430-434 (2002)

46. Angela Reynolds, Devin Leake, Queta Boese, Stephen Scaringe, William S. Marshall and Anastasia Khvorova: Rational siRNA design for RNA interference. *Nat Biotechnol* 22, 326-330 (2004)

47. Yuki Naito, Kumiko Ui-Tei, Toru Nishikawa, Yutaka Takebe and Kaoru Saigo: siVirus: web-based antiviral siRNA design software for highly divergent viral sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res* 34, W448-450 (2006)

48. Derek W. Bartlett and Mark E. Davis: Insights into the kinetics of siRNA-mediated gene silencing from live-cell and live-animal bioluminescent imaging. *Nucleic Acids Res* 34, 322-333 (2006)

49. Sabine Merl, Cornelia Michaelis, Birgit Jaschke, Marc Vorpahl, Stefan Seidl and Rainer Wessely: Targeting 2A protease by RNA interference attenuates coxsackieviral cytopathogenicity and promotes survival in highly susceptible mice. *Circulation* 111, 1583-1592 (2005)

50. Weizao Chen, Weiyao Yan, Qingyun Du, Liang Fei, Mingqiu Liu, Zheng Ni, Zutian Sheng and Zhaoxin Zheng: RNA interference targeting VP1 inhibits foot-and-mouth disease virus replication in BHK-21 cells and suckling mice. *J Virol* 78, 6900-6907 (2004)

51. Vira Bitko, Alla Musiyenko, Olena Shulyayeva and Sailen Barik: Inhibition of respiratory viruses by nasally administered siRNA. *Nat Med* 11, 50-55 (2005)

52. Deborah Palliser, Dipanjan Chowdhury, Qing-Yin Wang, Sandra J. Lee, Roderick T. Bronson, David M. Knipe and Judy Lieberman: An siRNA-based microbicide protects mice from lethal herpes simplex virus 2 infection. *Nature* 439, 89-94 (2006)

53. Martin Egli and Pradeep S. Pallan: Insights from crystallographic studies into the structural and pairing properties of nucleic acid analogs and chemically modified DNA and RNA oligonucleotides. *Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct* 36, 281-305 (2007)

54. Jane Yuan, David A. Stein, Travis Lim, Dexin Qiu, Shaun Coughlin, Zhen Liu, Yingjin Wang, Robert

Blouch, Hong M. Moulton, Patrick L. Iversen and Decheng Yang: Inhibition of coxsackievirus B3 in cell cultures and in mice by peptide-conjugated morpholino oligomers targeting the internal ribosome entry site. J Virol 80, 11510-11519 (2006)

55. Ariel Vagnozzi, David A. Stein, Patrick L. Iversen and Elizabeth Rieder: Inhibition of Foot-and-Mouth Disease Virus in Cell Cultures with Antisense Morpholino Oligomers. *J Virol* (2007)

56. Tia S. Deas, Iwona Binduga-Gajewska, Mark Tilgner, Ping Ren, David A. Stein, Hong M. Moulton, Patrick L. Iversen, Elizabeth B. Kauffman, Laura D. Kramer and Pei-Yong Shi: Inhibition of flavivirus infections by antisense oligomers specifically suppressing viral translation and RNA replication. *J Virol* 79, 4599-4609 (2005)

57. Christopher J. Nulf and David Corey: Intracellular inhibition of hepatitis C virus (HCV) internal ribosomal entry site (IRES)-dependent translation by peptide nucleic acids (PNAs) and locked nucleic acids (LNAs) *Nucleic Acids Res* 32, 3792-3798 (2004)

58. Eric E. Swayze, Andrew M. Siwkowski, Edward V. Wancewicz, Michael T. Migawa, Tadeusz K. Wyrzykiewicz, Gene Hung, Brett P. Monia and C. Frank Bennett: Antisense oligonucleotides containing locked nucleic acid improve potency but cause significant hepatotoxicity in animals. *Nucleic Acids Res* 35, 687-700 (2007)

59. S. Kauppinen, B. Vester and J. Wengel: Locked nucleic acid: high-affinity targeting of complementary RNA for RNomics. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*405-422 (2006)

60. Pernilla Wittung, Johan Kajanus, Katarina Edwards, Peter E. Nielsen, Bengt Norden and Bo G. Malmstrom: Phospholipid membrane permeability of peptide nucleic acid. *FEBS Lett* 375, 27-29 (1995)

61. Fatima Boutimah-Hamoudi, Erwan Leforestier, Catherine Senamaud-Beaufort, Peter E. Nielsen, Carine Giovannangeli and Tula Ester Saison-Behmoaras: Cellular antisense activity of peptide nucleic acid (PNAs) targeted to HIV-1 polypurine tract (PPT) containing RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res* 35, 3907-3917 (2007)

62. Ya-Lin Chiu and Tariq M. Rana: siRNA function in RNAi: a chemical modification analysis. *RNA* 9, 1034-1048 (2003)

63. Mohammed Amarzguioui, Torgeir Holen, Eshrat Babaie and Hans Prydz: Tolerance for mutations and chemical modifications in a siRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res* 31, 589-595 (2003)

64. Antonin de Fougerolles, Hans-Peter Vornlocher, John Maraganore and Judy Lieberman: Interfering with disease: a progress report on siRNA-based therapeutics. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 6, 443-453 (2007)

65. David A. Matthews, Ward W. Smith, Rose Ann Ferre, Brad Condon, Gregg Budahazi, Wes Sisson, J. E. Villafranca, Cheryl A. Janson, H. E. McElroy, C. L. Gribskov and Stephen Worland: Structure of human rhinovirus 3C protease reveals a trypsin-like polypeptide fold, RNA-binding site, and means for cleaving precursor polyprotein. *Cell* 77, 761-771 (1994)

66. Marc Allaire, Maia M. Chernaia, Bruce A. Malcolm and Michael N.G. James: Picornaviral 3C cysteine proteinases have a fold similar to chymotrypsin-like serine proteinases. *Nature* 369, 72-76 (1994)

67. Bobby Yanagawa, O. Brad Spiller, David G. Proctor, Jonathan Choy, Honglin Luo, Huifang Mary Zhang, Agripina Suarez, Decheng Yang and Bruce M. McManus: Soluble recombinant coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor abrogates coxsackievirus b3-mediated pancreatitis and myocarditis in mice. *J Infect Dis* 189, 1431-1439 (2004)

68. Yuri Kusov, Tatsuo Kanda, Ann Palmenberg, Jean-Yves Sgro and Verena Gauss-Muller: Silencing of hepatitis A virus infection by small interfering RNAs. *J Virol* 80, 5599-5610 (2006)

69. Sabine Merl and Rainer Wessely: Anti-coxsackieviral efficacy of RNA interference is highly dependent on genomic target selection and emergence of escape mutants. *Oligonucleotides* 17, 44-53 (2007)

70. Leonid Gitlin, Jeffrey K. Stone and Raul Andino: Poliovirus escape from RNA interference: short interfering RNA-target recognition and implications for therapeutic approaches. *J Virol* 79, 1027-1035 (2005)

71. Lars Aagaard and John J. Rossi: RNAi therapeutics: principles, prospects and challenges. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 59, 75-86 (2007)

72. Tung-Chung Mou, Carla W. Gray, Thomas C. Terwilliger and Donald M. Gray: Ff gene 5 protein has a high binding affinity for single-stranded phosphorothioate DNA. *Biochemistry* 40, 2267-2275 (2001)

73. Tung-Chung Mou and Donald M. Gray: The high binding affinity of phosphorothioate-modified oligomers for Ff gene 5 protein is moderated by the addition of C-5 propyne or 2'-O-methyl modifications. *Nucleic Acids Res* 30, 749-758 (2002)

74. Byong Hoon Yoo, Elena Bochkareva, Alexey Bochkarev, Tung-Chung Mou and Donald M. Gray: 2'-Omethyl-modified phosphorothioate antisense oligonucleotides have reduced non-specific effects in vitro. *Nucleic Acids Res* 32, 2008-2016 (2004)

75. Tracey L.H. Jason, James Koropatnick and Randal W. Berg: Toxicology of antisense therapeutics. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 201, 66-83 (2004)

76. S. Barik: RNAi in moderation. *Nat Biotechnol* 24, 796-797 (2006)

77. Jeremy D. Heidel, Zhongping Yu, Joanna Yi-Ching Liu, Shyam M. Rele, Yongchao Liang, Ryan K. Zeidan, Douglas J. Kornbrust and Mark E. Davis: Administration in non-human primates of escalating intravenous doses of targeted nanoparticles containing ribonucleotide reductase subunit M2 siRNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 5715-5721 (2007)

78. Inge S. Zuhorn, Jan B.F.N. Engberts and Dick Hoekstra: Gene delivery by cationic lipid vectors: overcoming cellular barriers. *Eur Biophys J* 36, 349-362 (2007)

79. Raymond M. Schiffelers, Aslam Ansari, Jun Xu, Qin Zhou, Qingquan Tang, Gert Storm, Grietje Molema, Patrick Y. Lu, Puthupparampil V. Scaria and Martin C. Woodle: Cancer siRNA therapy by tumor selective delivery with ligand-targeted sterically stabilized nanoparticle. *Nucleic Acids Res* 32, e149 (2004)

80. B. Urban-Klein, S. Werth, S. Abuharbeid, F. Czubayko and A. Aigner: RNAi-mediated gene-targeting through systemic application of polyethylenimine (PEI)-complexed siRNA in vivo. *Gene Ther* 12, 461-466 (2005)

81. David V. Morrissey, Jennifer A. Lockridge, Lucinda Shaw, Karin Blanchard, Kristi Jensen, Wendy Breen, Kimberly Hartsough, Lynn Machemer, Susan Radka, Vasant Jadhav, Narendra Vaish, Shawn Zinnen, Chandra Vargeese, Keith Bowman, Chris S. Shaffer, Lloyd B. Jeffs, Adam Judge, Ian MacLachlan and Barry Polisky: Potent and persistent in vivo anti-HBV activity of chemically modified siRNAs. *Nat Biotechnol* 23, 1002-1007 (2005)

82. A. Santel, M. Aleku, O. Keil, J. Endruschat, V. Esche, G. Fisch, S. Dames, K. Loffler, M. Fechtner, W. Arnold, K. Giese, A. Klippel and J. Kaufmann: A novel siRNA-lipoplex technology for RNA interference in the mouse vascular endothelium. *Gene Ther* 13, 1222-1234 (2006)

83. Dirk Grimm and Mark A. Kay: RNAi and Gene Therapy: A Mutual Attraction. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program* 2007, 473-481 (2007)

84. H. Fechner, S. Pinkert, X. Wang, I. Sipo, L. Suckau, J. Kurreck, A. Dorner, K. Sollerbrant, H. Zeichhardt, H. P. Grunert, R. Vetter, H. P. Schultheiss and W. Poller: Coxsackievirus B3 and adenovirus infections of cardiac cells are efficiently inhibited by vector-mediated RNA interference targeting their common receptor. *Gene Ther* 14, 960-971 (2007)

85. Weizao Chen, Mingqiu Liu, Ye Jiao, Weiyao Yan, Xuefeng Wei, Jiulian Chen, Liang Fei, Yang Liu, Xiaoping Zuo, Fugui Yang, Yonggan Lu and Zhaoxin Zheng: Adenovirus-mediated RNA interference against foot-and-mouth disease virus infection both in vitro and in vivo. *J Virol* 80, 3559-3566 (2006)

86. Dirk Grimm and Mark A. Kay: From virus evolution to vector revolution: use of naturally occurring serotypes of adeno-associated virus (AAV) as novel vectors for human gene therapy. *Curr Gene Ther* 3, 281-304 (2003)

87. Gustavo Tiscornia, Oded Singer and Inder M. Verma: Design and cloning of lentiviral vectors expressing small interfering RNAs. *Nat Protoc* 1, 234-240 (2006)

88. Rebecca P. Wu, Derek S. Youngblood, Jed N. Hassinger, Candace E. Lovejoy, Michelle H. Nelson, Patrick L. Iversen and Hong M. Moulton: Cell-penetrating peptides as transporters for morpholino oligomers: effects of amino acid composition on intracellular delivery and cytotoxicity. *Nucleic Acids Res* 35, 5182-5191 (2007)

89. Christina Lorenz, Philipp Hadwiger, Matthias John, Hans-Peter Vornlocher and Carlo Unverzagt: Steroid and lipid conjugates of siRNAs to enhance cellular uptake and gene silencing in liver cells. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 14, 4975-4977 (2004)

90. Jurgen Soutschek, Akin Akinc, Birgit Bramlage, Klaus Charisse, Rainer Constien, Mary Donoghue, Sayda M. Elbashir, Anke Geick, Philipp Hadwiger, Jens Harborth, Matthias John, Venkitasamy Kesavan, Gary Lavine, Rajendra K. Pandey, Timothy Racie, Kallanthottathil G. Rajeev, Ingo Rohl, Ivanka Toudjarska, Gang Wang, Silvio Wuschko, David Bumcrot, Victor Koteliansky, Stefan Limmer, Muthiah Manoharan and Hans-Peter Vornlocher: Therapeutic silencing of an endogenous gene by systemic administration of modified siRNAs. *Nature* 432, 173-178 (2004)

91. Anton P. McCaffrey, Leonard Meuse, Thu-Thao Pham, Douglas S. Conklin, Gregory J. Hannon and Mary A. Kay: RNA interference in adult mice. *Nature* 418, 38-39 (2002)

92. Jianfeng Xu, Lin Li, Zhikang Qian, Jie Hong, Shuiyuan Shen and Weida Huang: Reduction of PTP1B by RNAi upregulates the activity of insulin controlled fatty acid synthase promoter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 329, 538-543 (2005)

93. Yumi Matsui, Naoki Kobayashi, Makiya Nishikawa and Yoshinobu Takakura: Sequence-specific suppression of mdr1a/1b expression in mice via RNA interference. *Pharm Res* 22, 2091-2098 (2005)

94. S. Guo, F. Huang and P. Guo: Construction of folateconjugated pRNA of bacteriophage phi29 DNA packaging motor for delivery of chimeric siRNA to nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. *Gene Ther* 13, 814-820 (2006)

95. Tatsuo Kanda, Bo Zhang, Yuri Kusov, Osamu Yokosuka and Verena Gauss-Muller: Suppression of hepatitis A virus genome translation and replication by siRNAs targeting the internal ribosomal entry site. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 330, 1217-1223 (2005)

96. Aure Saulnier, Isabelle Pelletier, Karine Labadie and Florence Colbere-Garapin: Complete cure of persistent

virus infections by antiviral siRNAs. *Mol Ther* 13, 142-150 (2006)

97. Naomi R. Florea, Dana Maglio and David P. Nicolau: Pleconaril, a novel antipicornaviral agent. *Pharmacotherapy* 23, 339-348 (2003)

98. Krista M. Phipps, Alejandro Martinez, Jin Lu, Beverly A. Heinz and Genshi Zhao: Small interfering RNA molecules as potential anti-human rhinovirus agents: in vitro potency, specificity, and mechanism. *Antiviral Res* 61, 49-55 (2004)

99. Domenica Musumeci, Margherita Valente, Domenica Capasso, Rosanna Palumbo, Matthias Gorlach, Michaela Schmidtke, Roland Zell, Giovanni N. Roviello, Roberto Sapio, Carlo Pedone and Enrico M. Bucci: A short PNA targeting coxsackievirus B3 5'-nontranslated region prevents virus-induced cytolysis. *J Pept Sci* 12, 161-170 (2006)

100. Jane Yuan, Paul K. Cheung, Huifang Mary Zhang, David Chau and Decheng Yang: Inhibition of coxsackievirus B3 replication by small interfering RNAs requires perfect sequence match in the central region of the viral positive strand. *J Virol* 79, 2151-2159 (2005)

101. Steffen Schubert, Diana Rothe, Denise Werk, Hans-Peter Grunert, Heinz Zeichhardt, Volker A. Erdmann and Jens Kurreck: Strand-specific silencing of a picornavirus by RNA interference: evidence for the superiority of plusstrand specific siRNAs. *Antiviral Res* 73, 197-205 (2007)

102. Joo-Young Kim, Sun-Ku Chung, Ha-Young Hwang, Hyongbum Kim, Jae-Hong Kim, Jae-Hwan Nam and Sang Ick Park: Expression of short hairpin RNAs against the coxsackievirus B3 exerts potential antiviral effects in Cos-7 cells and in mice. *Virus Res* 125, 9-13 (2007)

103. Steffen Schubert, Hans-Peter Grunert, Heinz Zeichhardt, Denise Werk, Volker A. Erdmann and Jens Kurreck: Maintaining inhibition: siRNA double expression vectors against coxsackieviral RNAs. *J Mol Biol* 346, 457-465 (2005)

104. Alfonso Gutierrez, Encarnacion Martinez-Salas, Belen Pintado and Francisco Sobrino: Specific inhibition of aphthovirus infection by RNAs transcribed from both the 5' and the 3' noncoding regions. *J Virol* 68, 7426-7432 (1994)

105. Paloma Bigeriego, Maria F. Rosas, Eva Zamora, Encarnacion Martinez-Salas and Francisco Sobrino: Heterotypic inhibition of foot-and-mouth disease virus infection by combinations of RNA transcripts corresponding to the 5' and 3' regions. *Antiviral Res* 44, 133-141 (1999)

106. Teresa de los Santos, Qiaohua Wu, Sonia de Avila Botton and Marvin J. Grubman: Short hairpin RNA targeted to the highly conserved 2B nonstructural protein coding region inhibits replication of multiple serotypes of foot-and-mouth disease virus. Virology 335, 222-231 (2005)

107. Ronen Kahana, Larisa Kuznetzova, Arie Rogel, Mordechai Shemesh, Dalia Hai, Hagai Yadin and Yehuda Stram: Inhibition of foot-and-mouth disease virus replication by small interfering RNA. *J Gen Virol* 85, 3213-3217 (2004)

108. Mingqiu Liu, Weizao Chen, Zheng Ni, Weiyao Yan, Liang Fei, Ye Jiao, Jun Zhang, Qingyun Du, Xuefeng Wei, Jiulian Chen, Yumei Liu and Zhaoxin Zheng: Cross-inhibition to heterologous foot-and-mouth disease virus infection induced by RNA interference targeting the conserved regions of viral genome. *Virology* 336, 51-59 (2005)

109. Hui Sun Lee, Jeonghyun Ahn, Youngmee Jee, Il Sun Seo, Eun Jung Jeon, Eun-Seok Jeon, Chul Hyun Joo, Yoo Kyum Kim and Heuiran Lee: Universal and mutationresistant anti-enteroviral activity: potency of small interfering RNA complementary to the conserved cis-acting replication element within the enterovirus coding region. *J Gen Virol* 88, 2003-2012 (2007)

110. Wen-Wen Lu, Yueh-Ying Hsu, Jyh-Yuan Yang and Szu-Hao Kung: Selective inhibition of enterovirus 71 replication by short hairpin RNAs. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 325, 494-499 (2004)

111. Adrian Chong Nyi Sim, Arthur Luhur, Theresa May Chin Tan, Vincent Tak Kwong Chow and Chit Laa Poh: RNA interference against enterovirus 71 infection. *Virology* 341, 72-79 (2005)

112. Eng Lee Tan, Theresa May Chin Tan, Vincent Tak Kwong Chow and Chit Laa Poh: Enhanced potency and efficacy of 29-mer shRNAs in inhibition of Enterovirus 71. *Antiviral Res* 74, 9-15 (2007)

113. Eng Lee Tan, Theresa May Chin Tan, Vincent Tak Kwong Chow and Chit Laa Poh: Inhibition of Enterovirus 71 in Virus-infected Mice by RNA Interference. *Mol Ther* (2007)

114. Cathy L. Mendelsohn, Eckard Wimmer and Vincent R. Racaniello: Cellular receptor for poliovirus: molecular cloning, nucleotide sequence, and expression of a new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. *Cell* 56, 855-865 (1989)

115. Jeffrey M. Bergelson, Jennifer A. Cunningham, Gustavo Droguett, Evelyn A. Kurt-Jones, Anita Krithivas, Jeong S. Hong, Marshall S. Horwitz, Richard L. Crowell and Robert W. Finberg: Isolation of a common receptor for Coxsackie B viruses and adenoviruses 2 and 5. *Science* 275, 1320-1323 (1997)

116. Joseph T. Shieh and Jeffrey M. Bergelson: Interaction with decay-accelerating factor facilitates coxsackievirus B infection of polarized epithelial cells. *J Virol* 76, 9474-9480 (2002)

117. Donald E. Staunton, Vincent J. Merluzzi, Robert Rothlein, Randall Barton, Steven D. Marlin and Timothy A. Springer: A cell adhesion molecule, ICAM-1, is the major surface receptor for rhinoviruses. *Cell* 56, 849-853 (1989)

118. Daniel C. Pevear, Tina M. Tull, Martin E. Seipel and James M. Groarke: Activity of pleconaril against enteroviruses. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 43, 2109-2115 (1999)

119. Cecilia Tami, Erica Silberstein, Mohanraj Manangeeswaran, Gordon J. Freeman, Sarah E. Umetsu, Rosemarie H. DeKruyff, Dale T. Umetsu and Gerardo G. Kaplan: Immunoglobulin A (IgA) is a natural ligand of hepatitis A virus cellular receptor 1 (HAVCR1), and the association of IgA with HAVCR1 enhances virus-receptor interactions. *J Virol* 81, 3437-3446 (2007)

120. Sally A. Huber: VCAM-1 is a receptor for encephalomyocarditis virus on murine vascular endothelial cells. *J Virol* 68, 3453-3458 (1994)

121. Derek Logan, Robin Abu-Ghazaleh, Wendy Blakemore, Stephen Curry, Terry Jackson, Andrew King, Susan Lea, Richard Lewis, John Newman, Nigel Parry, David Rowlands, David Stuart and Elizabeth Fry: Structure of a major immunogenic site on foot-and-mouth disease virus. *Nature* 362, 566-568 (1993)

122. T. R. Doel: FMD vaccines. Virus Res 91, 81-99 (2003)

123. Gilbert G. Prive, Udo Heinemann, Srinivasan Chandrasegaran, Lou-Sing Kan, Mary L. Kopka and Richard E. Dickerson: Helix geometry, hydration, and G.A mismatch in a B-DNA decamer. *Science* 238, 498-504 (1987)

124. B. Hartmann, H. Bertrand and S. Fermandjian: Sequence effects on energetic and structural properties of phosphorothioate DNA: a molecular modelling study. *Nucleic Acids Res* 27, 3342-3347 (1999)

125. M. Soler, J. G. McHutchison, T. J. Kwoh, F. A. Dorr and J. M. Pawlotsky: Virological effects of ISIS 14803, an antisense oligonucleotide inhibitor of hepatitis C virus (HCV) internal ribosome entry site (IRES), on HCV IRES in chronic hepatitis C patients and examination of the potential role of primary and secondary HCV resistance in the outcome of treatment. *Antivir Ther* 9, 953-968 (2004)

126. Martin Egli: Conformational preorganization, hydration, and nucleic acid duplex stability. *Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev* 8, 123-128 (1998)

127. Jakob T. Nielsen, Paul C. Stein and Michael Petersen: NMR structure of an alpha-L-LNA:RNA hybrid: structural implications for RNase H recognition. *Nucleic Acids Res* 31, 5858-5867 (2003)

128. Claes Wahlestedt, Peter Salmi, Liam Good, Johanna Kela, Thomas Johnsson, Tomas Hokfelt, Christian

Broberger, Frank Porreca, Josephine Lai, Kunkun Ren, Michael Ossipov, Alexei Koshkin, Nana Jakobsen, Jan Skouv, Henrik Oerum, Mogens H. Jacobsen and Jesper Wengel: Potent and nontoxic antisense oligonucleotides containing locked nucleic acids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 5633-5638 (2000)

129. Michael Egholm, Ole Buchardt, Leif Christensen, Carsten Behrens, Susan M. Freier, David A. Driver, Rolf H. Berg, Seog K. Kim, Bengt Norden and Peter E. Nielsen: PNA hybridizes to complementary oligonucleotides obeying the Watson-Crick hydrogen-bonding rules. *Nature* 365, 566-568 (1993)

Abbreviations: ASO – Antisense oligonucleotide, siRNA – small interfering RNA, PV – poliovirus, HRV – Human rhinovirus, HAV – Hepatitis A Virus, SARS CoV – severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus, CV – coxsackievirus, FMDV – foot and mouth disease virus, IRES – internal ribosomal entry site, +ssRNA – positive, single-stranded RNA, ARP – arginine rich peptide, TAT – Human immunodeficiency transactivator protein, PPMO – peptide conjugated phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligomer, LNA – locked nucleic acid, PNA – peptide nucleic acid, RSV – respiratory syncytial virus, CMV – cytomegalovirus

Key Words: Picornavirus, Enterovirus, Coxsackievirus B3, Antisense, Small interfering RNA, Antisense oligonucleotides, Phosphorodiamidate Morpholino Oligomer, Antiviral drug therapy, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr. Decheng Yang, Rm 166-1081 Burrard St., St. Paul's Hospital, Vancouver, BC, V6Z 1Y6, Tel: 604-682-2344 extn 62872, Fax: 604-806-9274, E-mail: dyang@mrl.ubc.ca

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol13.htm